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DECISION 


We find cause to discipline Steven M. Hancock’s pharmacist license for incompetency, gross negligence, misconduct, dishonesty, violation of a professional trust or confidence, and violation of the drug laws, because of his dispensing errors and unlawful diversion of controlled substances.

Procedure


The Missouri Board of Pharmacy (Board) filed a complaint on February 1, 2002, seeking this Commission’s determination that Hancock’s pharmacist license is subject to discipline.


This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on September 9, 2002. Assistant Attorney General Ronald Q. Smith represented the Board.  Although we notified Hancock of the date and time of the hearing, neither Hancock nor anyone representing him appeared.


The matter became ready for our decision on September 25, 2002, when our reporter filed the transcript. 

Findings of Fact

1. Hancock is licensed by the Board as a pharmacist, License No. 45018. 

2. On or about June 21, 1993, this Commission granted an expedited order allowing the Board to immediately impose a temporary suspension on the registered pharmacist license that Hancock held at that time.  

3. On or about November 3, 1993, Hancock voluntarily surrendered that license to the Board. 

4. On or about July 8, 1998, the Board issued a new license to Hancock.  The license issued to Hancock in 1998 is, and was at all relevant times, current and active.  

5. Between May 2000 and January 2001, Hancock was employed at Sater Pharmacy (Sater’s) in Cassville, Missouri.  

6. On May 30, 2000, while on duty at Sater’s, Hancock dispensed carisoprodol, generic for Soma, 200 mg., to fill a prescription for Tegretol XR 200 mg. for James Riley, an inmate at the Barry County jail.  Tegretol is for control of epileptic seizures, and carisoprodol is a muscle relaxor.  Carisoprodol is not a generic substitute for Tegretol XR, and does not have a similar effect.  The label for Tegretol was Scotch-taped over a label for carisoprodol that was already attached to the bottle.  

7. Tegretol XR 200 mg. is an off-white pill and has a red dot with a white “T” in the middle of it; thus, its appearance is distinctive.  The person dispensing the medication at the prison questioned the appearance of the pill, and Riley also questioned it.  The prison guard got the bottle and showed Riley that it was labeled as Tegretol XR, so Riley took it.  Another inmate later found Riley on the floor suffering a seizure.  Riley was transported to the hospital for observation.  

8. On December 1, 2000, while on duty at Sater’s, Hancock dispensed cyclobenzaprine, a generic for Flexeril 10 mg., to fill a prescription for Ditropan 5 mg. for a three-year-old child.  Flexeril is a muscle relaxer, and Ditropan is for control of urinary incontinence.  Flexeril is not a generic substitute for Ditropan and does not have a similar effect.  The child went to sleep and his parents took him to the emergency room.  The child was hospitalized overnight for observation, but recovered with no harm.  The pharmacy owner covered the costs of the child’s treatment.  

9. On January 2, 2001, Sater’s dismissed Hancock from employment due to these errors.  

10. From approximately February 2001 through May 2001, Hancock was employed at Jon’s Pharmacy in Neosho, Missouri.  Soon after Hancock became employed at Jon’s, the pharmacy owner noticed that drugs such as Hydrocodone, a controlled substance, were missing from the shelves.  He and his employees began conducting counts at the end of the day.  Hancock became upset that another pharmacist was checking his bottles, and the owner informed him that controlled substances were missing.  A day or two later, on April 26, 2001, Hancock announced that he was leaving his employment.  His last day of employment at Jon’s was May 9, 2001.  After Hancock left, Jon’s had no more losses of Hydrocodone or other controlled substances.  Hancock misappropriated drugs including Hydrocodone, Vicoprofen, and Xanax from Jon’s Pharmacy.  (Tr. at 27, 30, 67.)

11. From approximately May 21, 2001, to July 23, 2001, Hancock was employed at the Wal Mart pharmacy in Springfield, Missouri.  When interviewing for the position, Hancock 

revealed that his license had previously been suspended.  Wal Mart’s district pharmacy manager hired him, but was notified by the Board’s inspector that there had been medication losses at locations where Hancock had worked.  The manager therefore conducted a baseline audit at the Wal Mart pharmacy on the day that Hancock started his employment there, May 21, 2001.  

12. The district manager began an audit on June 26, 2001, and noticed pills missing.  Wal Mart then did an exact count on July 12, 2001, and found substantial numbers of pills missing.  The manager contacted the Board’s inspector.  

13. On the evening of July 18, 2001, the Board’s inspector assisted the Wal Mart district pharmacy manager in overseeing the installation of hidden cameras in the pharmacy.  One camera covered the aisle containing the Hydrocodones, and the other camera shot down directly on the Hydrocodone bottles.  Hancock was off work the next day and went in to work on Friday, July 20, 2001.  

14. The videotape taken from the hidden camera showed Hancock taking Hydrocodone from the shelves at closing time and putting some in his pocket and his mouth.  

15. Before the manager confronted Hancock about the diversion, Hancock left a message on his answering machine stating that he would be leaving his employment due to personal problems and would not be back at work.  When Hancock did not return phone calls, the manager left a message stating that he would contact the police if Hancock did not call him.  Hancock then contacted the manager, who set up a meeting with Hancock at Wal Mart.  

16. When confronted at the meeting, Hancock admitted that he had an addiction and that he had diverted controlled substances from the Wal Mart pharmacy.  The manager stated that the value of the controlled substances was $763.40, and Hancock produced his credit card to pay for them.  The Wal Mart manager contacted the police, who came and placed Hancock under arrest.  

17. Between May 21, 2001, and July 20, 2001, while on duty at Wal Mart, Hancock diverted 199 Hydrocodone 10/500, 508 Hydrocodone 10/325, 52 Hydrocodone 10/650, 36 Norco 10/325, 200 Vicoprofen, 71 Oxycodone 5/325, and 5 Adderal for his personal use and consumption, without a prescription.  

18. Hydrocodone, Oxycodone, and Adderal are Schedule II controlled substances under § 195.017.
  (Comp. ¶ 18; Answer ¶ 18-20.).

19. Vicoprofen and Norco, which contain Hydrocodone in an amount of not more than 15 mg. per dosage unit, combined with one or more active non-narcotic ingredients, are Schedule III controlled substances under § 195.017.  (Comp. ¶ 19; Answer ¶ 18-20.) 

20. Xanax is a Schedule IV controlled substance under § 195.017.  (Comp. ¶ 20; Answer ¶ 18-20.)  

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear the Board’s complaint.  Section 621.045.1.  The Board has the burden of proving that Hancock has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


The Board asserts there is cause to discipline Hancock’s license under § 338.055.2 for:  

(1) Use of any controlled substance, as defined in chapter 195, RSMo, or alcoholic beverage to an extent that such use impairs a person's ability to perform the work of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter; 

*   *   *

(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter;

(6) Violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter;

*   *   *

(13) Violation of any professional trust or confidence;

*   *   *

(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government;

*   *   *

(17) Personal use or consumption of any controlled substance unless it is prescribed, dispensed or administered by a health care provider who is authorized by law to do so.

I.  Impairment


Although Hancock made errors at Sater’s and misappropriated controlled substances for his personal use, the Board has not established that Hancock’s drug use caused impairment of his ability to work.  Therefore, we find no cause to discipline under § 338.055.2(1).  

II.  Incompetency, Misconduct, Gross Negligence, 

Misrepresentation and Dishonesty


Incompetency is either a licensee’s general lack of present ability, or lack of a disposition to use his otherwise sufficient present ability, to perform a given duty.  Missouri Bd. for Architects, Prof'l Eng'rs and Land Surveyors v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 at 116-17 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm'n Nov. 15, 1985), aff'd, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988); Forbes v. Missouri Real Estate Comm'n, 798 S.W.2d 227, 230 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).  Misconduct is “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[.]”  Duncan, at 125.  Gross negligence is “an act or course of conduct which demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty,” and that indifference constitutes “a gross deviation from the standard of care which a 

reasonable person would exercise in the situation.”  Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Architects, Prof'l Eng'rs and Land Surveyors, 744 S.W.2d 524, 533 and n.6 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).


Hancock made such egregious errors in filling prescriptions that two patients had to be transported to the hospital.  He also misappropriated drugs.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline his license for incompetency.  


Hancock’s dispensing errors are cause to discipline his license for gross negligence.  His misappropriation of drugs was willful, and is thus cause to discipline his license for misconduct as well.


The Board also alleges cause to discipline for misrepresentation and dishonesty.  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.  Missouri Dental Bd. v. Bailey, 731 S.W.2d 272, 274 (Mo. App., W.D. 1987).  Dishonesty is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.  MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 333 (10th ed. 1993).  


Although Hancock misappropriated controlled substances, the Board has not shown that he made any false statements in doing so.  Therefore, we find no cause to discipline for misrepresentation.  However, his conduct displays a lack of integrity, and it was dishonest.  


We find cause to discipline Hancock’s license under § 338.055.2(5) for incompetency, gross negligence, misconduct, and dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of his profession.  

IV.  Violation of Professional Trust or Confidence


A professional trust or confidence is engendered by a party's reliance on the special knowledge and skills evidenced by professional licensure.  Trieseler v. Helmbacher, 168 S.W.2d 1030, 1036 (Mo. 1943).  The reliance on a professional's special knowledge and skills creates a professional trust, not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the 

professional and his employer and colleagues.  State Bd. of Nursing v. Morris, No. BN-85-1498 at 11 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Jan. 4, 1988).  By making egregious dispensing errors and misappropriating medications, Hancock violated the professional trust and confidence placed in him.  Therefore, there is cause to discipline his license under § 338.055.2(13).  

V.  Violation of Laws and Regulations

A.  Controlled Substances


The Board alleges that Hancock violated various state and federal laws and regulations involving controlled substances.  Although we have made findings involving the controlled substances under § 195.017, as we commonly do in these cases, whether a substance is a controlled substance is actually a mixed question of law and fact.  Controlled substances are set forth in schedules under state and federal law.  The state schedules are codified in § 195.017.  Pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 812(a), the federal schedules are to be updated every year.  The updates are found in the federal regulations.  


From Jon’s, Hancock misappropriated Hydrocodone, Vicoprofen, and Xanax.  From Wal Mart, Hancock misappropriated Hydrocodone 10/500, Hydrocodone 10/325, Hydrocodone 10/650, Norco, Vicopofen, Oxycodone, and Adderal.  Hydrocodone and Oxycodone are listed as Schedule II controlled substances under § 195.017.4(1)(a)j. and n., and 21 C.F.R. § 1308.12(1)(11) and (15).  Based on the complaint and answer, we have also found that Adderal is a Schedule II controlled substance under § 195.017, even though we do not find that particular drug listed in § 195.017 or in 21 C.F.R. § 1308.12.  


The Board’s complaint states:  

Pursuant to § 195.017, RSMo, hydrocodone in an amount of not more than 15 milligrams per dosage unit when combined with one or more active nonnarcotic ingredients, Vicoprofen and Norco are schedule III controlled substances.  

Hancock’s answer admits this ambiguous assertion.  Pursuant to § 195.017.6(4), controlled substances include:  

(d) Not more than three hundred milligrams of hydrocodone per one hundred milliliters or not more than fifteen milligrams per dosage unit, with one or more active nonnarcotic ingredients in recognized therapeutic amounts[.]

21 C.F.R. § 1308.13(e)(4) contains essentially the same provision.  We do not find Vicoprofen or Norco listed on the schedules.  Although the complaint is less than clear, we took it to mean that Vicoprofen and Norco are drugs that contain not more than 15 mg. of Hydrocodone per dosage unit, combined with one or more non-narcotic ingredient.  The record does not provide adequate information to make any other determination.  


As further reflected in our findings, Xanax is a brand of Alprazolam, which is a Schedule IV controlled substance.  Section 195.017.8(2)(a); 21 C.F.R. § 1308.14(c)(1).  

B.  State and Federal Law:  Diversion of Controlled Substances


The Board cites §§ 195.202 and 195.180, 21 U.S.C. § 844(a), §§ 195.070 and 195.060, 21 U.S.C. § 829, 21 C.F.R. § 1306.11, and 21 C.F.R. § 1306.21 as cause to discipline Hancock for his diversion of controlled substances.

Section 195.202.1 provides:

Except as authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425, it is unlawful for any person to possess or have under his control a controlled substance.


Section 195.180.1 provides:


A person may lawfully possess or have under his control a controlled substance if such person obtained the controlled substance directly from, or pursuant to, a valid prescription or order of a practitioner while acting in the course of a practitioner’s professional practice or except as otherwise authorized by sections 195.005 to 195.425.

21 U.S.C. § 844(a) provides:

(a) Unlawful acts; penalties


It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to possess a controlled substance unless such substance was obtained directly, or pursuant to a valid prescription or order, from a practitioner, while acting in the course of his professional practice . . . .

Hancock had possession of controlled substances without a valid prescription.  Therefore, he violated § 195.202 and 21 U.S.C. § 844(a).  Because § 195.180 merely spells out the circumstances under which possession is lawful, we do not find that Hancock violated that provision.  


Section 195.070.1 provides:


A physician, podiatrist, dentist, or a registered optometrist certified to administer pharmaceutical agents as provided in section 336.220, RSMo, in good faith and in the course of his professional practice only, may prescribe, administer, and dispense controlled substances . . . 

This statute does not apply to pharmacists.  Therefore, we cannot find cause to discipline Hancock’s license for violating it.  

Section 195.060.1 provides:  


Except as provided in subsection 3 of this section, a pharmacist, in good faith, may sell and dispense controlled substances to any person only upon a prescription of a practitioner as authorized by statute, provided that the controlled substances listed in Schedule V may be sold without prescription in accordance with regulations of the department of health. . . . The prescription shall be retained on file by the proprietor of the pharmacy in which it is filled for a period of two years, so as to be readily accessible for inspection by any public officer or employee engaged in the enforcement of this law. . . .


Title 21 U.S.C. § 829 provides:

(a) Schedule II substances


Except when dispensed directly by a practitioner, other than a pharmacist, to an ultimate user, no controlled substance in schedule II, which is a prescription drug as determined under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. 301 et seq.), may be dispensed without the written prescription of a practitioner, except that in emergency situations, as prescribed by the Secretary by regulation after consultation with the Attorney General, such drug may be dispensed upon oral prescription in accordance with section 503(b) of that Act.  (21 U.S.C. 353 (b)).  Prescriptions shall be retained in conformity with the requirements of section 827 of this title.  No prescription for a controlled substance in schedule II may be refilled.

(b) Schedule III and IV substances


Except when dispensed directly by a practitioner, other than a pharmacist, to an ultimate user, no controlled substance in schedule III or IV, which is a prescription drug as determined under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. 301 et seq.), may be dispensed without a written or oral prescription in conformity with section 503(b) of that Act (21 U.S.C. 353 (b)).  Such prescriptions may not be filled or refilled more than six months after the date thereof or be refilled more than five times after the date of the prescription unless renewed by the practitioner.

Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1306.11 provides:


(a) A pharmacist may dispense directly a controlled substance listed in Schedule II, which is a prescription drug as determined under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, only pursuant to a written prescription signed by the practitioner, except as provided in paragraph (d) of this section.

Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1306.21 provides:


(a) A pharmacist may dispense directly a controlled substance listed in Schedule III, IV, or V which is a prescription drug as determined under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, only pursuant to either a written prescription signed by a practitioner or a facsimile of a written, signed prescription transmitted by the practitioner or the practitioner’s agent to the pharmacy or pursuant to an oral prescription made by an individual practitioner and promptly reduced to writing by the pharmacist containing all information required in Sec. 1306.05, except for the signature of the practitioner.

Hancock’s diversion of Schedule II, Schedule III and Schedule IV controlled substances without a prescription violates § 195.060, 21 U.S.C. § 829, 21 C.F.R. § 1306.11, and 21 C.F.R. § 1306.21.  

C.  Federal Law:  Misbranding

Title 21 U.S.C. § 331 provides:

The following acts and the causing thereof are prohibited:

*   *   *


(b) The adulteration or misbranding of any food, drug, device, or cosmetic in interstate commerce.

Title 21 U.S.C. § 353(b) provides:



(b) Prescription by physician; exemption from labeling and prescription requirements; misbranded drugs; compliance with narcotic and marihuana laws.


(1) A drug intended for use by man which –


(A) because of its toxicity or other potentiality for harmful effect, or the method of its use, or the collateral measures necessary to its use, is not safe for use except under the supervision of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug; or 


(B) is limited by an approved application under section 355 of this title to use under the professional supervision of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug;

shall be dispensed only (i) upon a written prescription of a practitioner licensed by law to administer such drug, or (ii) upon an oral prescription of such practitioner which is reduced promptly to writing and filed by the pharmacist, or (iii) by refilling any such written or oral prescription if such refilling is authorized by the prescriber either in the original prescription or by oral order which is reduced promptly to writing and filed by the pharmacist.  The act of dispensing a drug contrary to the provisions of this paragraph shall be deemed to be an act which results in the drug being misbranded while held for sale.


Under these provisions, as quoted in the Board’s complaint, dispensing drugs without a prescription is deemed to be an act that results in the drug being misbranded.  Hancock 

misappropriated drugs without a prescription, and also dispensed drugs that were incorrectly labeled, without a prescription for the drugs actually dispensed.  Therefore, Hancock violated 21 U.S.C. § 331 and 21 U.S.C. § 353(b).  

D.  Conclusion 


We conclude that there is cause to discipline Hancock’s license under § 338.055.2(15) for his violation of state and federal drug laws and regulations.  

VI.  Violation of Pharmacy Laws


Section 338.055.2(6) provides cause to discipline for violation of, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of Chapter 338 or a rule or regulation adopted pursuant to Chapter 338.  The Board alleges that Hancock’s diversion of controlled substances caused the pharmacies to violate § 338.100, 21 U.S.C. § 827, and 21 C.F.R. § 1304.21.  


Section 338.100.1 provides:


Every permit holder of a licensed pharmacy shall cause to be kept in a uniform fashion consistent with this section a suitable file in which shall be preserved, for a period of not less than five years, the original or order of each drug which has been compounded or dispensed at such pharmacy, according to and in compliance with standards provided by the board, and shall produce the same in court or before any grand jury whenever lawfully required.  A licensed pharmacist may maintain its prescription file on readable microfilm for records maintained over three years.  After September, 1999, a licensed pharmacy may preserve prescription files on microfilm or by electronic media storage for records maintained over three years.  The pharmacist in charge shall be responsible for complying with the permit holder’s record-keeping system in compliance with this section. . . . Upon request, the pharmacist in charge of such pharmacy shall furnish to the prescribe [sic], and may furnish to the person for whom such prescription was compounded or dispensed, a true and correct copy of the original prescription.  The file of original prescriptions and other confidential records, as defined by law, shall at all times be open for inspection by board of pharmacy representatives.  

Title 21 U.S.C. § 827 provides:


(a) Inventory


Except as provided in subsection (c) of this section –

*   *   *


(3) on and after May 1, 1971, every registrant under this subchapter manufacturing, distributing, or dispensing a controlled substance or substances shall maintain, on a current basis, a complete and accurate record of each such substance manufactured, received, sold, delivered, or otherwise disposed of by him, except that this paragraph shall not require the maintenance of a perpetual inventory.

Regulation 21 C.F.R. § 1304.21(a) states in relevant part:

(a) Every registrant required to keep records pursuant to Sec. 1304.03 shall maintain on a current basis a complete and accurate record of each such substance manufactured, imported, received, sold, delivered, exported, or otherwise disposed of by him/her, except that no registrant shall be required to maintain a perpetual inventory.


The Board has not shown that Hancock caused the pharmacies to violate § 338.100.  Section 338.100 requires the pharmacies to keep the prescriptions on file for drugs dispensed at the pharmacies.  If Hancock misappropriated the drugs without a prescription, there is no prescription to keep on file, and no violation of § 338.100.  We find no cause for discipline of Hancock’s license under § 338.055.2(6).  


Although the Board asserts that Hancock’s actions caused the pharmacies to violate federal law and regulations, it cites no authority providing cause for discipline for causing another person to violate federal law and regulations. 

VI.  Personal Use or Consumption


The Board also relies on § 338.055.2(17), providing for discipline for unauthorized personal use or consumption of a controlled substance.  However, that paragraph became 

effective August 28, 2001, after the conduct in question.  H.B. 567.  We cannot find cause to discipline under paragraph (17) for conduct occurring before that provision of the statute was in effect.  Jerry-Russell Bliss, Inc. v. Hazardous Waste Management Comm’n, 702 S.W.2d 77, 81 (Mo. banc 1985).  We find no cause to discipline Hancock’s license under § 338.055.2(17).  

Summary


There is cause to discipline Hancock’s license under § 338.055.2(5), (13) and (15).


SO ORDERED on October 21, 2002.



________________________________



KAREN A. WINN



Commissioner

	�The complaint also asserts that Hancock misappropriated Alprazolam and Percodan.  Xanax is a brand of Alprazolam.  Physician’s Desk Reference 2456 (1994).  Percodan contains Oxycodone.  Physician’s Desk Reference 899.  The record does not specifically show that Hancock diverted drugs, other than those listed in our finding, from Jon’s.  


	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.  
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